

Interesting choice

The (relative) importance of choice and interest in reader engagement

Christina Clark and Caroline Phythian-Sence

National Literacy Trust

July 2008

Registered address: National Literacy Trust 68 South Lambeth Road London SW8 1RL Contact@literacytrust.org.uk
Contact@literacytrust.org.uk

National Literacy Trust is a registered charity, no. 1116260, and a company limited by guarantee, no. 5836486. Registered in England and Wales. VAT reg no. 919 3158 11.

Table of contents

Some interesting findings from this paper
Having a choice
and how it relates to personal responsibility, achievement and effort
Choice strategies
the basics of making a choice and some pitfalls
Specific choice strategies
or how to make a meaningful choice 5
Engaging interests
the motivational power of something enjoyable7
Types of interest
exploring individual and situational interest
Factors contributing to readers' interest
the impact of death and violence
Interest strategies
in the classroom
Interaction between choice and interest
and interest wins! 12
Conclusion 13

Why do some individuals become involved and interested in their reading and others do not? How can interest be stimulated in those who currently lack it? This paper looks at the impact of choice, interest and self-awareness on reading behaviour. It highlights the importance of interest in reader engagement in particular, both as an important outcome variable but also as a motivational factor that influences reading behaviour and learning.

This paper outlines the research evidence about the importance of choice and interest in reading activities. The practical aspect of this topic is also included and the strategies that could be used to make choice meaningful and to engage interest most effectively are explored. Some of the interesting findings are highlighted below.

Some interesting findings from this paper

- Choice empowers learners and creates personal responsibility to complete an activity
- Interest is associated with persistence and achievement
- Different **types of interest** are distinguished; these may have differing impacts on learner outcomes
- Interest and choice are frequently conflated as individuals typically make choices based on their interests, but studies show that interest is a more powerful predictor than choice
- Overall, **interest is a powerful influence** that predicts topic knowledge as well as breadth of vocabulary and text comprehension, even when background variables are controlled for

Having a choice

... and how it relates to personal responsibility, achievement and effort

It is widely accepted in educational circles that providing students with choice and control over their reading material enhances their involvement with and enjoyment of reading. More generally, choice has been linked to increased educational outcomes, such as greater levels of intrinsic motivation, greater persistence, better performance, more positive affect and higher satisfaction (e.g. Ryan and Deci, 2000).

Giving individuals control over aspects of their learning is also believed to lead to independent thinking, greater personal responsibility for the activity and feelings of autonomy (Guthrie and Davis, 2003). Indeed, the power of choice is regularly harnessed by teachers who provide choices because they believe it increases effort and learning (Flowerday and Schraw, 2000).

Regarding literacy, researchers have argued that, "including students in deciding which topics to explore, which texts to read, the sequence of texts, and the particular skills to emphasize is empowering" (Guthrie and Davis, 2003: 75). Opportunities for students to select their own reading materials therefore promote positive feelings about reading and improved achievement (Worthy and colleagues, 1998). Pachtman and Wilson (2006)

further detail that book choice not only fostered a sense of ownership, but "translated into students reading and enjoying more books" (p. 683).

For example, a U.S. study (Reynolds and Symons, 2001) investigated the impact of choice on text searches, finding that students who had a choice of books to search were not only faster but also more efficient in their search strategies than students who were not given a choice. This study also reported that students invested more time and effort, and made more correct responses, when they were given a choice of the type of text used in a reading comprehension task compared to students who were not given any choice.

Even struggling readers will show effort and persistence when reading self-selected texts, while other studies have shown that choice can affect attitudes and personal feelings (e.g. Cordova and Lepper, 1996). Finally, and most importantly as we will see later, choice also creates opportunities for individuals to choose materials and texts that engage their interests and values within a meaningful context (Turner and Paris, 1995).

To sum up,

- providing choice can be a motivational strategy,
- choice empowers the individual, instils ownership in the task, and encourages self-determination in literacy learning.

Overall, "allowing students to make choices encourages them to develop an interest in literacy, and it provides students with an opportunity to plan and regulate their literacy learning" (Turner and Paris, 1995: 666). These findings are important to us because our projects, in particular Reading Is Fundamental, advocate allowing children to choose their own books in order to help them develop a love of reading.

A note of caution. Studies have also shown that in situations where the provision of choice is haphazard, choice can have a negative impact on engagement, learning and affect. According to Renck-Jolango (2007) "choice involves making a judgment and, in the absence of information on how to render that decision, a huge range of options can backfire, causing students to disengage and rush through the task just to get it over with" (p. 404).

Flowerday and colleagues (2004) also reported that choice was negatively associated with engagement and attitudes in their experimental studies. The negative effects of providing choice in a non-systematic manner can be compounded by a chooser's lack of knowledge or lack of confidence about making a choice. For example, Schwartz (2000: 86) cautions that if individuals are not taught how to make correct choices and not given the confidence to make informed choices, then "rather than even try, people may disengage, choosing almost arbitrarily to get the process over with"

For choice to be effective and empowering, it therefore needs to informed and meaningful. Strategies to achieve this are outlined in the following section.

Choice strategies ... the basics of making a choice and some pitfalls

Making a choice involves selecting texts that tap into personal interests (more on that later), are of an appropriate level and support the reading progress (Turner and Paris, 1995). Strategies for making choices can therefore be grouped broadly into strategies for choosing a personally interesting book, and strategies for choosing a book at one's reading level. The relevance of these strategies is dependent on pupils' age, reading level and confidence around books.

For beginning readers, for example, familiarity, predictability and size are important in making a choice (Mertinex and Teale, 1988 cited in Pachtman and Wilson, 2006). More experienced readers may seek books that elicit a certain mood or experience; one student said, "I like to choose my own books because sometimes I'm in the mood for a sad book, or a happy book, or a really different book" (Pachtman and Wilson, 2006: 683).

The potential pitfalls: Even those strategies that are developmentally appropriate for a group of pupils may not be particularly meaningful for all pupils in that group. Educators should therefore look critically upon these suggestions, and consider the needs of their pupils when selecting strategies for instruction.

Sibberson and Szymusiak (2003), for example, reported that their pupils used book titles and covers to choose books, but many did not persevere with the choice, suggesting that these strategies are not always effective. One strategy will probably not be universally appropriate or effective; likewise a pupil will feel more empowered to make a choice with three or four well-mastered and personally effective strategies, than a dozen less understood methods for choosing.

Specific choice strategies

... or how to make a meaningful choice

Strategies have been collected from personal experiences of educators, and published articles. The articles reviewed detailed strategies used by adult readers (Ross, 2001), as well as strategies that educators teach to pupils in classroom settings (e.g. Pachtman and Wilson, 2006).

Ross (2001) developed categories to organise choice strategies; these have been paraphrased and used to organise the strategies collected from the above resources. These include clues on the book, elements of the book, cautionary clues and reading experience desired (Note: one additional category designated by Ross is "cost to the reader in getting access to book". This is not explicitly relevant to children who will generally choose from available books in local or classroom libraries and is therefore not included below.) Additional categories have been created for recommendations, and for strategies relating to choosing a text at a readable level.

Clues on the book. This refers to clues that pupils can get without opening up the book. Pupils can be instructed in how to ask themselves questions like, "Does the title sound interesting?" or "Does the cover look like another book I've read and enjoyed?" or "Is this book by an author I've read before, or an author I've heard of?".

- a. Title
- b. Author
- c. Cover illustration
- d. Blurb (i.e. BOB or blurb on back)
- e. Key phrases (i.e. Based on the TV series)
- f. Prizes

Elements of the book. More in-depth qualities of the book may reveal more useful "interest" information. Pupils can be instructed to ask themselves questions like "Do I like mystery books?" or suggest that pupils "dip in" the book, reading a page and evaluating it then for interest.

- g. Genre
- h. "Dip it"

Cautionary clues. Pupils are likely to have an idea of what they don't like, even if they are not yet sure what they do like. Pupils can reflect on their dislikes, such as thrillers, romance novels, or books about space aliens, and then look out for cautionary elements in the book (illustrations, chapter titles) and clues on the book cover (highlighted quotations).

- i. Keywords e.g. thriller
- j. Types of characters

Reading experience desired. Pupils who are more familiar with reading for pleasure may seek to incite a certain mood by reading a book. Pupils can ask themselves, "Is this a book I'm in the mood to read?".

k. Mood - reflect on genre, length, degree of challenge posed by the text, and reading purpose (informational versus pleasure)

Recommendations. Because many pupils value their teacher's opinions, and almost universally value their peers' opinions, asking teachers and peers for book recommendations can be very meaningful (see Sibberson and Szymusiak, 2003). This information can be requested formally through postings of recommended reads, or informally by allowing pupils to ask their friends for help in choosing a book.

- I. Teacher recommendations
- m. Peer recommendations

Readability. Although having a readable text is not a priority for older, more proficient readers, beginning and struggling readers may need to use strategies that help them identify books that they will be able to read. Beginning readers may be happy to consult a teacher regarding readability but older, struggling readers may feel more comfortable using more discreet methods for selection.

- n. Five-finger method
 - i. A student chooses a page to read in the book, and holds up his or her open hand. Each time an unknown word is encountered, the student puts one finger down. If the student encounters five unknown words on a page, and all five fingers are down, then that book is not at an appropriate reading level for that student.
- o. Reading-level boxes

i. Teachers or librarians group books of similar difficulty into baskets or buckets. These groupings should be colour coded or labelled in a manner that does not overtly mark books for less fluent readers (books could be labelled as "challenging" and "very challenging").

Recent research by The Bookseller (2008) showed that most adults are persuaded to buy a book because they like the author, the story or material looks like something that they might enjoy, the cover is engaging and has got a good review, it has interesting first pages or is based on a recommendation by family or friends.

To sum up

- having an opportunity to choose a text to read can result in greater engagement, more perseverance and higher satisfaction,
- because choice has been shown to have a positive link to reading behaviour, it is important that pupils who are given an opportunity to choose are also educated in effective strategies for making a successful choice.

Ross (2001) asserts that when pupils read something they have chosen for themselves, they are more likely to want to "repeat the pleasurable experience by reading something further" (p. 12). One student states, "choice is good because *you* know what you like, and other people don't know what you like" (Pachtman and Wilson, 2006: 681).

A factor that is closely related to choice, and which has been explored considerably more often in research, is interest. It is closely related to choice as individuals tend to choose according to their interests. We will outline the importance of interest in reader engagement in the following sections.

Engaging interests

... the motivational power of something enjoyable

Broadly speaking, interest plays a critical motivational role in human learning and development (Alexander and Murphy, 1998). The term interest refers to an affective state that represents an individual's personal experience of learning. According to Ainley (2006: 391), interest arises from either situational stimuli or well-developed individual interests and is "an integration of feelings, motivation, and cognition".

Interest affects learning through determining "how we select and persist in processing certain types of information in preference to others" (Hidi, 1990: 549). With regards to interest in reading, research suggests that,

it is such a powerful influence that, even when background variables such as past achievement and parental income are controlled for, students' self-initiated reading predicts their knowledge of topics as well as their proficiency in vocabulary and text comprehension (Renck-Jalongo, 2007: 400).

Generally, interest has been shown to affect emotional engagement (e.g. Schiefele, 1999), persistence with a task (Vollmeyer and Rheinberg, 2000), and to influence learning, attention, and comprehension (Schiefele, 1999). With regards to reading, children who are interested in the texts comprehend them better than children with

similar reading skills but lower interest. Interest is also related to persistence to read challenging text passages (e.g. Naceur and Schiefele, 2005).

In fact, research suggests that interest has an effect above and beyond the impact of prior knowledge and intelligence. For example, Schiefele (1992: 153) showed that the relationship between interest and text,

is relatively independent of age of student, type of text (narrative vs. expository), the modes of the text presentation (written vs. oral), and kind of comprehension test (free and cued recall, 'cloze' procedure, multiple choice and open-ended questions).

Researchers have also demonstrated that interest affects the type of learning that occurs. Interest appears to have an effect on the quality of learning by increasing the amount of recall and affecting the level of processing (Naceur and Schiefele, 2005). For example, Daniel, Waddill, Finstad and Bourg (2000) reported that when readers engaged with bland narratives they focused on individual text elements, such as extracting proposition-specific content; readers of interesting texts tended to engage in organisational processing of information.

Practically speaking, this means that when asked to recall information relating to bland narratives, subjects recalled mostly text specific information; in contrast, personally interesting narratives allowed readers to incorporate new information into a broader knowledge base from which more general information could be recalled. To best enhance the effects of choice on interest, students should therefore choose from a variety of texts, e.g. classroom texts, library books, and internet sources (Guthrie, Schafer, von Secker and Alban, 2000).

Types of interest ... exploring individual and situational interest

Though interest is of paramount importance to reader engagement as shown above, it should be noted that interest is not just a one-dimensional factor. Instead, several types of interest have been described in the research literature. For example, Kintsch (1980) differentiates between two forms of interest: emotional and cognitive interest. Emotional interest refers to the affective impact of a text, while cognitive interest describes the impact a text has on our thinking.

More recently, two different types of interest have been distinguished: *individual* (also frequently referred to as topic or personal interest) and *situational interest*. Individual interest refers to a type of interest that is stable and content-specific, and appears to be based on personal experiences, previous knowledge (Schiefele, 1999), level of skill, and the emotions associated with the learning topic or experience (Cheng and Darst, 2002; Hidi, 2001). By contrast, situational interest is short-lived and context-dependent and appears to be based on salient informational content and novelty (Schraw and Lehman, 2001; Wade, 1992).

Both types of interest are positively related to short-term and long-term learning. For example, across numerous studies situational interest has been related to better recall and text interpretation (see Naceur and Schiefele, 2005; Schraw and Lehman, 2001) as

well as greater and deeper levels of text processing (e.g. Schraw, 1997). Individual interest has also been found to be linked to deeper levels of learning (Schiefele and Krapp, 1996). Furthermore, individual interest has also been linked to choice, particularly of challenging tasks (e.g. Inoue, 2007).

Very few studies have explored the relative impact of these two types of interest on learning and the findings are confusing. There is some indication that individual interest is a more powerful predictor of learning than situational interest. For example, Randler and Bogner (2007) found that although both individual and situational interest are associated with achievement, individual interest had the strongest impact. In contrast, Flowerday and colleagues (2004) found that situational interest, not individual interest, is associated with reading engagement and positive attitudes.

Whatever their differential effect on learning may be, situational interest may be a more important motivator for low achieving pupils than individual interest. For example, deSousa and Oakhill (1996) showed that situational interest had more impact on reading comprehension in primary pupils struggling with comprehension than for those who were good comprehenders.

Although differences exist between situational and individual interest, they are not dichotomous phenomena; a specific topic may be both situationally and personally interesting. In addition, situational interest can act as a catalyst for the development of more long-term personal interest (Harackiewicz, Durik, Barron, Linnenbrink-Garcia and Tauer, 2008). Guthrie and colleagues (2006) argue that students' situational interest in reading may lead to long-term intrinsic motivation to read; given an instructional context that supports engagement and motivation in reading. It appears, therefore, that in some cases, situational interest will develop over time into individual interest. Unfortunately, very little is known about this process (see Durik and Harackiewicz, 2007; see also Hidi and Renninger, 2006, who advanced a four-phase model of interest development).

Indeed, Hidi and Anderson (1992) convincingly argue that using students' interests as a primary motivation tool could be difficult because of the diverse nature of interests among learners. Young learners may not even have established values, or enough knowledge on which to develop individual interest (Alexander, 2006). For these students, a situationally interesting activity can immediately attract attention, providing students with positive feelings about the activity (Hidi and Harackiewicz, 2000). In practice, educators often utilise situational interest as a motivator (Schraw et al., 2001).

Factors contributing to readers' interest ... the impact of death and violence

Interest, in its many guises, clearly motivates individuals to read. However, what is an important educational issue is how to increase the amount of reading that students engage in, through interesting text. In his seminal paper, Roger Schank (1979) suggested that certain concepts (e.g. death, violence and sex) can be considered "*absolute interests*" that almost universally stimulate individuals' interest. Further research supports this assertion; adding "*life issues*" to the list of topics that appear to have universal appeal (see Zahoric, 1996). Although some of these topics will not be appropriate for children, young adults, who can be particularly difficult to engage in

reading, may be surprised to find texts that explore these themes, and may be motivated to read by these topics.

It is important to point out at this stage that there are some long-established findings linking gender with interest in reading specific types of text. In conjunction with research conducted at the National Literacy Trust (NLT), we found that boys tended to prefer texts about adventure, sports, science and information, while girls tended to prefer mystery and romance (Clark and Foster, 2005). However, simply making available to boys reading materials that contain male protagonists is not sufficient to elicit interest in boys (e.g. Ainley, Hillman and Hidi, 2002).

Research has also investigated the use of supportive activities to increase reader engagement. Guthrie and colleagues (2006) found that stimulating tasks in reading increased situational interest, which increased longer-term intrinsic motivation and reading comprehension. *Involvement*, such as hands-on activities, is also highly correlated with situational interest (e.g. Guthrie et al., 2006; Mitchell, 1993) and is frequently used by educators to create interest in the classroom (e.g. Zahoric, 1996). However, Zahoric (1996) cautions that hands-on activities cannot be ends in themselves but need to be thought-engaging to result in learning.

Of note is that children report that their interest in book reading is influenced by their teachers, along with their mothers, and other factors such as availability and identity as a reader (Edmunds and Bauserman, 2006). This statement is especially important for educators because it supports researchers' assertions that teachers can have a direct impact on children's interest in reading. Educators should therefore use strategies, or choose texts, that generate situational interest in reading. But they should also teach children effective strategies for choosing personally interesting, and readable texts to support the development of an intrinsic interest in reading.

Interest strategies

... in the classroom

There are numerous ways by which interests can be engaged in the classroom (Bergin, 1999). Factors that influence situational interest, such as modifications in task presentations, curriculum materials, and self-regulation, can be used to elicit interest in reading. In a series of studies, Sansone and colleagues (1992, 2000) showed that individuals can self-regulate in order to make tasks more interesting and subsequently develop interest in activities initially considered uninteresting. Educators may therefore consider teaching pupils strategies for summarising information, or reflecting on comprehension whilst reading.

Research has also shown that the presence of others in the learning environment is a powerful factor that elicits interest. Educators may consider involving pupils in reading partners or reading groups. Although these studies did not deal specifically with interest in reading, they indicated that interest in reading could also be increased by similar methods.

Some of the suggested activities for eliciting interest in reading include creating a greater sense of belonging, enhancing personal identification with the task, skill

modeling, increasing novelty in the classroom through activities and games, and providing relevant background knowledge.

Research also suggests that in order to enact change on children's motivation to read, the experience of reading needs to be explicitly linked with interest through, for example, highlighting the personal relevance of the text, or the relation between the text and the potential reader's background knowledge (see Harackiewicz, et al., 2008; Schraw, Flowerday and Lehman, 2001).

Schraw, Flowerday, and Lehman (2001) reviewed the literature on interest in the classroom, outlining six strategies for increasing interest, which are summarised and discussed below:

- 1. *Provide pupils with meaningful choices.* Schraw et al. (2001) note that choice may "increase students' interest in a text" (p. 220), and that less skilled students should be supported to make meaningful choices. As this is the crux of this paper, it is unsurprising that it is an important aspect of increasing interest.
- 2. Use well-organised texts. The researchers suggest that coherent and informationally complete texts support interest. Providing pupils with background knowledge about the texts can help to highlight these textual qualities. Practically speaking, this may involve pre-selecting books for a classroom library that have familiar story structures, or organising books in the classroom library that have common themes into identifiable boxes or baskets.
- 3. *Pre-select "vivid" texts.* Texts that contain, for example "rich imagery" and "suspense" are valuable in eliciting students' interest. This suggestion highlights the importance of educators being familiar with existent books for children and young adults. This may also mean moving beyond notions of what should be read, and moving towards the inclusion of texts in classroom libraries that will capture pupils' attention. This could include books featuring TV tie-ins, books from popular series, joke books and other materials that may be considered "vivid" for pupils.
- 4. Use familiar texts. Pupils, particularly beginning and struggling readers, will look towards texts that are familiar (have been read before) or have familiar themes, authors, etc. Though the idea of using familiar texts seems contrary to stimulating interest, familiar texts will support struggling readers' literacy, while texts that are mostly familiar (e.g. sequels, series, etc.) will provide enough support to catch the attention of most readers.
- 5. Encourage active learners. Schraw et al. (2001) argue that encouraging pupils to create meaning from the text will increase interest. Practically speaking this may involve using strategies such as KWL charts, noting "what I already Know, what I Want to know" before choosing and reading a text, and subsequently detailing, "what I have Learned."
- 6. *Highlight the relevance of the task.* Research suggests that when tasks are linked to a greater goal, interest in the task will be greater. With reading, effective strategies may include highlighting the information that could be

acquired from a given non-fiction book, or encouraging pupils to read and then share opinions as a part of a book-club of peers.

Several classroom practices can be used to implement the strategies outlined above. For example, practitioners report on the effectiveness of using mini-lessons for teaching pupils how to use strategies (Pachtman and Wilson, 2001). In this small group setting, an educator can target a group of children who may find, for example, choosing books at their reading level a challenge. An example mini-lesson may include a short introduction on the importance of making an informed book choice, and then teach and model the Five-Finger strategy to a group of struggling readers.

Sibberson and Szymusiak (2003) engaged students in conversations on reading related topics. In a whole group or small group setting, the educator asked students to reflect and share their opinions on specific themes relating to book choice. These topics included:

- 1. Why do people choose the same author over and over again?
- 2. Why do people choose certain topics to read about?
- 3. Why do people read? (i.e. reading for different purposes)
- 4. Why do people recommend books?

Mini-lessons and focused conversations are valuable forums for educating pupils in how to make a good choice, but to sustain the effects of this training, educators should strive to engage pupils in making good book choices as part of the reading culture of the classroom (Pachtman and Wilson, 2006). Making informed choices should be a part of pupils' everyday practice.

Interaction between choice and interest ... and interest wins!

So far this paper has shown that having a choice and engaging interests are powerful factors in reader engagement and reading behaviour. "One problem with previous research, however, is that it fails to address whether the positive effects of choice are due to choice itself or interest in what one chooses" (Flowerday and colleagues, 2004: 94).

Using an experimental design to control for the effects of choice and interest on learning, attitudes and general reader engagement, Flowerday and colleagues (2004) found that interest, or more specifically situational interest, promotes reading engagement and positive attitudes but choice does not. Therefore, it appears that "it is not choice but situational interest in what one reads that increases engagement" (p. 111). However, the findings from this study need to be validated by further research.

It is therefore important to consider that choosing a "readable" text may not be as important as choosing a text that is personally interesting. A highly motivated pupil may persevere through a challenging text, just as an unmotivated pupil may disengage from a readable, but personally uninteresting text. Pachtman and Wilson (2006) asked students to think about a "good fit" book, reflecting on personal preferences, reading ability, and the "degree of challenge" posed by the text. Sibberson and Szymusiak (2003) talk about the idea of a "just right" book as one that you are in the mood for, will make you think, and is personally interesting. When making a choice, students learned to read the blurb, reviews, an excerpt and the first page ("dip in"), and to ask themselves after each step, "Does this look like a book I'd like to read?". Although strategies for interest and readability are important, making a "good choice" appears to go beyond selecting an appropriate book.

Conclusion

This paper has shown that choice and interest are highly related and often conflated: pupils are more likely to choose books that look interesting to them. We suggest that pupils should be educated in how to make choices based on interest and readability, and supported to develop an interest in reading in general. These strategies should reinforce a cycle of choice and interest in reading, contributing to the development of an intrinsic motivation to engage in reading.

But to affect reading behaviour, pupils have to go beyond simply choosing a book, and must subsequently choose to read that book, over any other available activity (Ross, 2001). A "good choice" therefore involves pupils choosing a book that they are also motivated to read. This last point is particularly relevant to book-gifting programmes, like Reading Is Fundamental, which work to motivate children to read for pleasure by providing them with an opportunity to choose a book. Because being successful in the task of choosing a book may contribute to a pupil's intrinsic motivation (Morrow, 2001), repeated acts of successful choice may reinforce the cycle of choice and engagement, contributing to more sustainable outcomes for interventions focused on reading for pleasure.

This perhaps is particularly pertinent in light of an Ofsted report (2004) that indicated that few schools engaged the interest of children who, although competent readers, did not read for pleasure. This report also noted that schools rarely built on pupils' own reading interests and the range of reading material pupils do read outside of school. A similar finding was made by a recent NLT survey (Clark, Osborne and Akerman, 2008), which showed that pupils believed that there was a discrepancy between the materials that they themselves read outside of school and the types of materials they felt they are encouraged to read by adults in their school.

Numerous studies of young people's attitudes towards reading have also shown that, in particular, reluctant readers, and boys, say that they cannot find anything of interest to them (e.g. Clark and Foster, 2005). While this may partly be an excuse to rationalise their lack of reading, surveys that we have conducted at the NLT support the assertions made by Ofsted, arguing that the interests of many pupils are not engaged by their families or schools (e.g. Clark, Osborne and Akerman, 2008).

In short, research and educator best practices support the importance of using choice and interest to engage pupils in reading:

• Teachers can elicit interest in reading by using situationally motivating activities, and providing texts that are diverse and appealing.

- Pupils' interest in reading can be supported through strategies that engage their personal interest, as well as through strategies that help them to make choices that can lead to successful reading experiences.
- Educators should therefore strive to make choice and interest practices a part of regular classroom activities, in order to support the development of sustainable interest in reading.

Finally, although we have talked almost exclusively about books in this paper, we would like to stress the importance of making available a wide range of reading materials that are not books, including magazines, newspapers, websites (including blogs) and emails, to stimulate the interest of children and young people.

References

Ainley, M. (2006). Connecting with Learning: Motivation, Affect and Cognition in Interest Processes. *Educational Psychological Review*, **18**, 391–405.

Ainley, M., Hillman, K. and Hidi, S. (2002). Gender and interest processes in response to literary texts: situational and individual interest. *Learning and Instruction*, **12**, 411-428.

Alexander, P. A. (2006). *Psychology in learning and teaching*. Columbus, OH: Prentice-Hall.

Alexander, P. A. and Murphy, P. K. (1998). Profiling the differences in students' knowledge, interest, and strategic processing. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, **90**, 435-447.

Alexander, P. A. (1997). Mapping the Multidimensional Nature of Domain Learning: The Interplay of Cognitive, Motivational, and Strategic Forces. In M. L. Maehr and P. R. Pintrich (Eds.), *Advances in Motivation and Achievement,* Vol. 10. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.

Alexander, P. A., Jetton, T. L. and Kulikowich, J. M. (1995). Interrelationship of Knowledge, Interest, and Recall: Assessing a Model of Domain Learning. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, **87**, 559 - 575.

Anderson, R. C., Shirley, L. L., Wilson, P. T. and Fielding, L. G. (1987). Interestingness of Children's Reading Material. In R. E. Snow and M. J. Farr (Eds.), *Aptitude, Learning and Instruction: Vol III: Cognitive and Affective Progress Analyses.* Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Bergin, D. A. (1999). Influences on Classroom Interest. *Educational Psychologist*, **34**, 87 - 98.

The Bookseller (2008). *Reading the future*. London: The Bookseller.

Clark, C. and Foster, A. (2005). Young people's attitudes towards reading: The why, who, where and when. London: National Literacy Trust.

Clark, C., Osborne, S. and Akerman, R. (2008). Young people's self-perception as readers. London: National Literacy Trust.

Cordova, D.I. and Lepper, M.R. (1996). Intrinsic motivation and the process of learning: Beneficial effects of contextualization, personalization and choice. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, **88**, 715-730.

Dewey, J. (1913). Interest and effort in education. Boston, MA: Riverside Press.

Flowerday, T. and Schraw, G. (2000). Teachers beliefs about instructional choice: A phenomenological study. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, **92**, 634-645.

Flowerday, T. and Schraw, G. (2003). Effect of choice on cognitive and affective engagement. *The Journal of Educational Research*, **96**, 207-15.

Flowerday, T., Schraw, G. and Stevens, J. (2004). The role of choice and interest in reader engagement. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, **72**, 93-114.

Guthrie, J.T. and Davis, M.H. (2003). Motivating struggling readers in middle school through an engagement model of classroom practice. *Reading and Writing Quarterly*, **19**, 59-85.

Guthrie, J.T., Hoa, L.W., Wigfield, A. Tonks, S.M. and Perencevich, K.C. (2006). From Spark to Fire: Can Situational Reading Interest Lead to Long-term Reading Motivation?. *Reading Research and Instruction*, **45**, 91-117

Guthrie, J.T., Schafer, W.D., von Secker, C. and Alban, T. (2001). Contributions of instructional practices to reading achievement in a statewide improvement program. *The Journal of Educational Research*, **93**, 211-225.

Guthrie, J.T., Wigfield, A., Humenick, N.M., Perencevich, K.C., Taboada, A. and Barbosa, P. (2006). Influences of Stimulating Tasks on Reading Motivation and Comprehension. *Journal of Educational Research*, **99**, 232-245.

Harackiewicz, J. M., Barron, K. E., Carter, S. M., Lehto, A. T. and Elliot, A. J. (1997). Predictors and Consequences of Achievement Goals in the College Classroom: Maintaining Interest and Making the Grade. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, **73**,1284 - 1295.

Harackiewicz, J. M., Barron, K. E., Tauer, J. M., Carter, S. M. and Elliot, A. J. (2000). Short-Term and Long-Term Consequences of Achievement: Predicting Continued Interest and Performance over Time. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, **92** (2),36 -330.

Harackiewicz, J.M., Durik, A.M., Barron, K.E., Linnenbrink-Garcia, E. and Tauer, J.M. (2008). The Role of Achievement Goals in the Development of Interest: Reciprocal Relations Between Achievement Goals, Interest, and Performance. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, **100**, 105-122.

Hidi, S. (1990). Interest and Its Contribution as a Mental Resource for Learning. *Review of Educational Research*, **60**, 549 - 571.

Hidi, S. (2000). An Interest Researcher's Perspective on the Effects of Extrinsic and Intrinsic Factors on Motivation. In C. Sansone and J. M. Harackiewicz (Eds.), *Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivation: The Search for Optimum Motivation and Performance.* New York: Academic Press.

Hidi, S. (2001). Interest and Reading: Theoretical and Practical Considerations. *Educational Psychology Review*,**13** (3),191 - 208.

Hidi, S. and Harackiewiez, J. M. (2000). Motivating the Academically Unmotivated: A Critical Issue for the 21st Century. *Review of Educational Research*, **70** (2), 151 - 179.

Hidi, S. and Renninger, K. A. (2006). The four-phase model of interest development. *Educational Psychologist*, **41**, 111–127.

Hoffman, L. and Haussler, P. (1998). An Intervention Project Promoting Girls' and Boys' Interest in Physics. In L. Hoffman, A. Krapp, K. A. Renninger, and J. Baumert (Eds.), *Interest and Learning: Proceedings of the Seeon Conference on Interest and Gender.* Kiel, Germany: Institute for Science Education (IPN).

Hoffman, L., Krapp, A., Renninger, K. A. and Baumert, J. (1998). *Interest and Learning: Proceedings of the Seeon Conference on Interest and Gender.* Kiel, Germany: Institute for Science Education (IPN).

Inoue, N. (2007). Why face a challenge?: The reason behind intrinsically motivated students' sponteous choice of challenging tasks. *Learning and Individual Differences*, **17**, 251-259.

Kintsch, W. (1980). Learning from Texts, Levels of Comprehension, Or: Why Anyone Would Read a Story Anyway. *Poetics*, **9**, 87 - 98.

Krapp, A. (1999). Interest, Motivation and Learning: An Educational-Psychological Perspective. *European Journal of Psychology in Education*, **14**, 23 - 40.

Krapp, A., Hidi, S. and Renninger, K. A. (1992). Interest, Learning and Development." In K. A. Renninger, S. Hidi, and A. Krapp (Eds.), *The Role of Interest in Learning and Development*. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

McDaniel, M. A., Finstad, K., Waddill, P. J. and Bourg, T. (2000). The Effects of Text-Based Interest on Attention and Recall. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, **92** (3), 492 - 502.

Mitchell, M. (1993). Situational Interest: Its Multifaceted Structure in the Secondary School Mathematics Classroom. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, **85**, 424 - 426.

Meyer, B. J. F., Talbot, A. and Stubblefield, R. A. (1998). Interest and Strategies of Young and Old Readers Differently Interact with Characteristics of Texts. *Educational Gerontology*, **24**, 747 - 771.

Naceur, A. and Schiefele, U. (2005). Motivation and learning – the role of interest in construction of representation of text and long-term retention: Inter- and intraindividual analyses. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, **20**, 155-170.

Pachtman, A.B. and Wilson, K.A. (2006). What do the kids think? *The Reading Teacher*, **59**(7), 680-684.

Randler, C. and Bogner, F.X. (2007). Pupils' Interest before, during, and after a Curriculum Dealing with Ecological Topics and Its Relationship with Achievement. *Educational Research and Evaluation*, **13**, 463-478.

Renck-Jalongo, M. (2007). Beyond benchmarks and scores: Reasserting the role of motivation and interest in children's academic achievement. *International Focus Issues*, 395-407.

Renninger, K. A. (1992). Individual Interest and Development: Implications for Theory and Practice. In K. A. Renninger, S. Hidi, and A. Krapp (Eds.), *The Role of Interest in Learning and Development.* Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Renninger, K. A. (2000). Individual Interest and Its Implications for Understanding Intrinsic Motivation. In C. Sansone and J. M. Harackiewicz (Eds.), *Intrinsic Motivation: Controversies and New Directions*. New York: Academic Press.

Renninger, K. A. and Hidi, S. (2002). Student Interest and Achievement: Developmental Issues Raised by a Case Study. In A. Wigfield and J. S. Eccles (Eds.,), *The Development of Achievement Motivation*. New York: Academic Press.

Reynolds, P. L. and Symons, S. (2001). Motivational variables and children's text search. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, **93**, 14-22.

Ross, C.S. (2001). Making choices: What readers say about choosing books to read for pleasure. *Reading, Books and Librarians.* Haworth Information Press: Binghamton, New York (pp 5-22).

Sadoski, M. (2001). Resolving the Effects of Concreteness on Interest, Comprehension, and Learning Important Ideas from Text. *Educational Psychology Review*, **13** (3).

Sadoski, M., Goetz, E. T., and Fritz, J. (1993). Impact of Concreteness on Comprehensibility, Interest, and Memory for Text: Implications for Dual Coding Theory and Text Design. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 85, 291 - 304.

Sanacore, J. (1999). Encouraging children to make choices about their literacy learning. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, **35**, 38-42.

Sansone, C. and Smith, J. L. (2000). Self-Regulating Interest: When, Why and How. In C. Sansone and J.M. Harackiewicz (eds.), *Intrinsic Motivation: Controversies and New Directions.* New York: Academic Press.

Sansone, C., Weir, C., Harpster, L. and Morgan, C. (1992). Once a Boring Task Always a Boring Task? Interest as a Self-Regulatory Mechanism. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, **63**, 379 - 390.

Schank, R. C. (1979). Interestingness: Controlling Inferences. *Artificial Intelligence* **12**, 273 - 297.

Schiefele, U. (1998). Individual Interest and Learning, What We Know and What We Don't Know. In L. Hoffman, A. Krapp, K. A. Renninger, and J. Baumert (eds.), *Interest and Learning: Proceedings of the Seeon Conference on Interest and Gender*. Kiel, Germany: Institute for Science Education (IPN).

Schiefele, U. (1991). Interest, learning, and motivation. *Educational Psychologist*, **26**, 299-323.

Schiefele, U. and Krapp, A. (1996). Topic Interest and Free Recall of Expository Text. *Learning and Individual Differences*, **8**:141 - 160.

Schraw, G. (1997). Situational interest in literary text. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 22 (4), 436-456.

Schraw, G. and Dennison, R. S. (1994). The Effect of Reader Purpose on Interest and Recall. *Journal of Reading Behavior*, **26** (1), 1 - 18.

Schraw, G., Flowerday, T. and Lehman, S. (2001). Increasing situational interesting the classroom. *Educational Psychology Review*, **13** (3): 211-224.

Schraw, G. and Lehman, S. (2001). Situational interest: A review of the literature and directions for future research. *Educational Psychology Review*, **13**, 23-52.

Schraw, Gregg, Bruning, R. and Svoboda, C. 1995. "Sources of Situational Interest." *Journal of Reading Behavior*, **27**,1 - 17.

Schraw, G., Flowerday, T. and Lehman, S. (2001). Increasing situational interest in the classroom. *Educational Psychology Review*, **13**, 211 - 224.

Schraw, G., Flowerday, T. and Reisetter, M. (1998). The role of choice in reader engagement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, **90**, 705-714.

Shank, R.C. (1979). Interestingness: Controlling influences. *Artificial Intelligence*, **12**, 273-297.

Sibberson, F. and Szymusiak, K. (2003). Browsing and book choice. *Still Learning to Read: Teaching students in grades 3-6.* Stenhouse Publishers: Portland, Maine.

Turner, J. and Paris, S.G. (1995). How literacy tasks influence children's motivation for literacy. *The Reading Teacher*, **48** (8), 662-673.

Vollmeyer, R. and Rheinberg, F., (2000). Does motivation affect performance via persistence?. *Learning and Instruction*, **10**, pp. 293–309.

Wade, S. E., Buxton, W. M., and Kelly, M. (1999). Using Think-Alouds to Examine Reader-Text Interest. *Reading Research Quarterly*, **34**, 194 - 216.

Worthy, J., Turner, M. and Morrman, M. (1998). The precarious place of self-selected reading. *Language Arts*, **75**, 296-304.

Zahoric, J.A. (1996). Elementary and secondary teachers' reports of how they make learning interesting. *The Elementary School Journal*, **96** (5), 551-564.

If you have any questions or comments relating to the content of this document please contact: Christina Clark Head of Research National Literacy Trust 68 South Lambeth Road London SW8 1RL E-mail: christina.clark@literacytrust.org.uk © Copyright 2008 Produced by the National Literacy Trust